APR 2 2 2012

In the

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE

CASE NO. B233189

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, CASE NO. BC436063 HON. JOHN SHEPARD WILEY

WILLIAM B. WEBB AND JACQUELINE V. WEBB,

APPELLANTS,

v.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edward R. Hugo [Bar No. 124839] James C. Parker [Bar No. 106149] Jeffrey Kaufman [Bar No. 48095] BRYDON HUGO & PARKER 135 Main Street, 20th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 Telephone: (415) 808-0300 Facsimile: (415) 808-0333 Email: service@bhplaw.com

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is it a tort not to warn a manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows?
- 2. Is it a tort not to impose a contractual obligation to warn upon a manufacturer, when the manufacturer already owes a tort duty to warn?
- 3. May those associated with but not actually part of the chain of distribution, such as a broker, rely upon those within the chain, such as the manufacturer, to warn end users of hazards, especially when those outside the chain have no reasonable means to warn the end users?
- 4. Absent a reason to believe otherwise, may a broker presume a manufacturer will warn end users of hazards, especially when the broker has no reasonable means to warn the end users?
- 5. If they are not in the chain of distribution and do not profit from the end product, are brokers subject to strict products liability?
- 6. If there was no duty to warn, can a general negligence verdict be sustained if the only form of negligence was a failure to warn?
- 7. If there is no prejudice, may a trial court rule after a verdict upon otherwise valid pre-verdict motions for nonsuit and directed verdict?
- 8. Alternatively, if there is no prejudice, may a trial court deem otherwise valid motions for nonsuit and directed verdict as motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), and rule upon them before expiration of the time for filing a motion for new trial?

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents major issues of compelling interest to litigants across California. The primary issues are:

- 1. Whether a broker to a sophisticated manufacturer is subject to a duty to warn that manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows; and
- 2. How and when a trial court may rule on timely submitted motions for nonsuit, directed verdict, and JNOV.

In a 2-1 published decision, the Second District reversed the judgment of the trial court and reinstated a \$5,004,695 jury verdict against Special Electric Company, Inc. ("Special Electric"). The trial judge, the Hon. John S. Wiley, had post-verdict granted Special Electric's timely filed motions for nonsuit and directed verdict, which he had deferred so as not to delay the trial and to give the parties ample opportunity to fully brief the issues. Deeming them motions for JNOV, he granted that motion as well.

On the merits, the trial judge found that Johns-Manville, a sophisticated, knowledgeable company concerning asbestos, did not need to have its asbestos brokers warn it of the hazards of asbestos. And, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the broker could rely on Johns-Manville to discharge its own independent duty to warn those end users.

The Court of Appeal reversed on both procedural and substantive grounds. It held that since they were heard post-verdict, the previously filed motions for nonsuit and directed verdict, though timely and proper, had to comply with the procedural requirements for a JNOV. According to the majority, the trial court's pragmatic deferral meant that it could no longer decide those motions under their own procedures, and it was

premature to decide them under JNOV procedures. No court has ever found the procedures here constitute reversible error. Yet the majority not only found them reversible error, it do so without any finding that they had caused any prejudice. Its procedural rulings limit trial court discretion, and threaten to lengthen trials and impose additional burdens on jurors.

On the procedural points, the dissent characterizes the majority's opinion as having "no legal precedent," as being "implausible," and relying on "technical errors" that were "undeniably harmless".

(Dissenting Opinion ("Dis. Op.") at p. 8, 9, 10, 11.)

The majority's reasoning on the merits is equally flawed. The majority acknowledged that "No one on this appeal doubts that Johns-Manville was a sophisticated user of asbestos, who needed no warning about its dangers." (Op. at p. 17) Nonetheless, Special Electric owed a tort duty to warn Johns-Manville. This holding conflicts with the basic principle that obvious hazards need not be warned of, and with *Johnson v*. American Standard ("Johnson") (2008) 43 Cal.4th 56, 67 ("there is no need to warn of known risks under either a negligence or strict liability theory"). The majority also held Special Electric had an independent duty to warn Mr. Webb, the end user of Johns-Manville's products, even though Plaintiffs themselves disclaimed that position, and even though Special Electric could not know who the end user would be nor ever reach the end users such as Mr. Webb. These holdings impose an impossible duty upon defendants like Special Electric and cannot be reconciled with prior case law. (Fierro v. International Harvester Co. (1982) 127 Cal. App.3d 862 [no duty to warn knowledgeable company of flammability properties of gasoline; Groll v. Shell Oil Co. (1983) 148 Cal. App. 3d 444, 449 ["Since

respondent manufactured and sold BT-67 in bulk, its responsibility must be absolved at such time as it provides adequate warnings to the distributor who subsequently packages, labels and markets the product."]; Persons v. Salomon North America, Inc. (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 168, 178 [no duty of ski binding manufacturer to warn ultimate user].)

The dissent is appalled. "The majority holds that it can be a tort to fail to tell someone something they already know, and that it can also be a tort to fail to impose on someone a contractual duty to do something they already have a tort duty to do." (Dis. Op. at p. 1.) Requiring Special Electric to warn Webb meant that holding "Special Electric liable on the basis of a theory that plaintiffs themselves have never advanced." (Dis. Op. at p. 3, 4.) The majority view conflicted with the general rule that "every person has a right to presume that every other person will perform his duty and obey the law " (Dis. Op. at p. 4.) Moreover, there was no evidence of causation to support the theory that the failure to warn Johns-Manville or to try and warn Webb through Johns-Manville had any connection to Webb's injuries. There was also no evidence that Webb was exposed to asbestos attributable to Special Electric.

The dissent variously characterized the majority opinion as "unprecedented," "incorrect as a matter of law," without "authority or reasoning," and "extraordinary." (Dis. Op. at pp. 4, 5, 6.)

At least one defendant in toxic tort litigation has already requested de-publication of the Opinion. If the decision is not reversed, or depublished, considerably confusion and unnecessary litigation will result, both on the heretofore unknown-to-be-erroneous procedural issues and the scope of the newly expanded duty to warn.

This matter requires Supreme Court guidance.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiffs' complaint named 11 defendants. At trial, only three remained. When Plaintiffs rested, Special Electric timely moved for nonsuit on the failure to warn theories. In the interests of efficiency, and so the parties could brief the issues (which even Plaintiffs requested), the trial court deferred ruling on the motion. The parties then briefed the issues. (1 Appellants' Appendix ("App.") at 62, 77, 151; 18 RT 6602:7-6603:1; see also 11 RT 3003:28-3304:3.)

When both sides rested, Special Electric moved for a directed verdict. The court deferred ruling on that motion as well so it could be briefed, which it was. (1 App. at 68, 176.)

Before any hearings on the two pre-verdict motions could be held, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Special Electric on Plaintiffs' design defect (consumer expectations) theory, but against Special Electric on the failure-to-warn and negligence theories. (1 App. at 143.)

Thereafter, the trial court indicated its intent to grant Special Electric's motions. At Plaintiffs' request, the matter was set for further briefing and argument. Supplemental briefs on both motions were filed and a further hearing was held. (1 App. at 196; 2 App. at 309.) The trial court then granted both motions. The court also deemed them to be a motion for JNOV, and granted that motion as well. (2 App. at 383). Judgment was entered and Plaintiffs appealed. (2 App. at 384; 404)

B. COURT OF APPEAL OPINION

1. THE MAJORITY DECISION

Addressing the JNOV motion, the appellate court treated it as having been made on the trial court's own motion, although the order and judgment state that the trial court deemed Special Electric's motions to also

be a JNOV motion. (2 App. at 383, 401.) The appellate court held that for a trial court to grant a JNOV on its own motion it must give five days written notice of its intent to do so, and must provide written notice of the grounds for the motion. Further, it must not grant the motion before 15 days after entry of judgment, which is the time within which to move for a new trial. It held the trial court's grant of JNOV was beyond its authority and impermissibly premature. Further, after the verdict, the nonsuit and directed verdict motions had to satisfy the procedural requirements of a JNOV motion. In short, the trial court was tardy on ruling on the preverdict motions and premature in ruling on them as post-verdict motions. Yet, there was no finding of prejudice.

On the merits the appellate court held that Special Electric had a duty to warn Johns-Manville, and an independent duty to warn Webb, notwithstanding Webb never took the position Special Electric had to warn him directly and Webb's counsel at oral argument disclaimed he was so contending. (The majority apparently did not accept Webb's argument that Special Electric had a tort duty to contractually force Johns-Manville to warn the end users.)

The appellate court also found that Special Electric's motions did not reach the general negligence verdict, just the strict liability and negligent failure to warn claims.

2. The 13-Page Dissent

Justice Rothschild advanced full-blown reasoning for his disagreement with the majority.

There was no failure to warn Johns-Manville because it is not a tort to fail to tell someone something they already know. There was no failure to warn Webb because Webb never contended Special Electric could or should have warned him, and Johns-Manville already had a tort duty to warn, on which Special Electric could rely. Special Electric had no duty to seek a contractual agreement, and there is no evidence that Special Electric had reason to know Johns-Manville would not fulfill its duty to warn.

Further, there is no causal relationship between Special Electric's alleged failure to warn and the injuries to Webb. No warning to Johns-Manville would have told it anything it did not already know, and there is no evidence a contractual duty would have made a difference. None of Special Electric's acts or omissions cited by the majority made any difference to Webb's injuries.

There were no procedural errors, and no prejudice. Plaintiffs had ample notice and opportunity to be heard on all arguments. There is no authority to eliminate a need for showing prejudice by concluding the trial court's holding was "procedurally impermissible", and Plaintiffs did not take that position. In addition, the statute does not say the court has no power to rule on a JNOV motion before the time for filing a new trial motion ends. There is no written notice requirement for *sua sponte* motions, and, in any event, reversal would depend on prejudice. Finally, imposing JNOV requirements on the nonsuit and directed verdict motions is unprecedented.

As to the general negligence claim, there was no negligence claim except negligent failure to warn.

3. PETITION FOR REHEARING

A Petition for Rehearing was timely filed. The court changed a factual statement in its Opinion but denied the request for rehearing.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Webb Was Exposed to Asbestos From Several Sources

William Webb, age 67, was diagnosed with mesothelioma, which he claimed was caused by asbestos exposure from the mid-1950's to the 1970's. (3 RT 606:2-616:6, 621:7-11, 624:17-626:27, 628:24-630:1.)

From 1969 to about 1980, while working at Pyramid Pipe & Supply ("Pyramid") in Canoga Park, CA he occasionally handled Transite pipe, an asbestos pipe manufactured by Johns-Manville typically in five-foot lengths for hot water heater venting. (3 RT 642:22-643:7, 649:19-21, 658:9-12; 650:6-10, 652:19-23, 685:17-28; 4 RT 1113:24-27, 1163:25-1164:1, 1170:19-24.)

B. JOHNS-MANVILLE WAS SOPHISTICATED ABOUT ASBESTOS

The Transite pipe was manufactured at Johns-Manville's Long Beach plant. Johns-Manville had been manufacturing asbestos-containing products since the 1850's. (9 RT 2644:22-2645:1, 2645:14-18.) Johns-Manville made many asbestos-containing products, including cements, millboard, residential siding, roofing products, flooring, insulation, asbestos cement pipe, and Transite pipe. (5 RT 1443:26-1444:25; 9 RT 2627:7-14, 2619:25-2620:7.)

By the 1970's, Johns-Manville had grown to 30,000 employees and operated numerous plants and asbestos mines in North America and overseas, including the Jeffrey Mine in Quebec, one of the world's largest asbestos sources. (9 RT 2616:20-2617:6; RT 2645:4-12; 5 RT 1441:25-1442:2.) Its pipe division consisted of six plants processing a variety of types of asbestos for manufacturing asbestos cement pipe. (9 RT 2627:7-14, 2619:25-2620:7.) Johns-Manville's state of the art research and development department knew "all the characteristics of asbestos, even chemically-

wise." (9 RT 2645:19-2646:13.)

Johns-Manville bought "a lot of types of fiber from a lot of different sources." (9 RT 2642:5-8.) As a mine owner, manufacturer, and consumer, Johns-Manville had developed superior knowledge about the hazards of asbestos. It knew how to safely handle asbestos, and long before the 1970's had well-established asbestos safety practices in place. (9 RT 2647:1-9.) Johns-Manville did not look to brokers, including Special Materials, for information or warnings about asbestos. (9 RT 2647:10-19.) Special Materials could not have told Johns-Manville anything about asbestos or its hazards that Johns-Manville did not already know. (9 RT 2651:3-6.) In fact, Johns-Manville educated Special Materials about asbestos. (9 RT 2646:14-21.)

Plaintiffs' industrial hygiene expert, John Templin, opined that Johns-Manville knew the potential health hazards of asbestos by at least the 1930's. (8 RT 2104:1-9.) Plaintiffs' epidemiology expert, Murray Finkelstein, studied Johns-Manville, interviewed current and former employees, and toured and reported on a Johns-Manville asbestos cement plant, and asbestos mine and milling operation. (5 RT 1224:11-1225:15, 1439:1-1440:8, 1441:8-20, 1441:21-24, 1442:6-16.) Finkelstein agreed that Johns-Manville was an industry leader and no company in the United States had greater knowledge about asbestos. (5 RT 1446:18-1447:1, 1447:2-1447:10.)

C. JOHNS-MANVILLE OBTAINED CROCIDOLITE FROM SEVERAL SOURCES

Crocidolite asbestos was never part of Johns-Manville's formula for Transite vent pipe; however, in practice employees at the Long Beach plant included in the mix discarded or scrap pipe ground up from many different sources, which could include crocidolite. (8 RT 2365:21-2368:16; 9 RT 2423:4-2424:21, 2427:5-10, 2453:18-26; see also 8 RT 2106:28-2107:24 [Templin].) However, not all scraps were used and some were disposed of at dumpsites. (RT 2454:9-17). Less than 1% of the actual blend for vent pipe could be blue fiber. (9 RT 2440:24-26.)

Johns-Manville had several suppliers of blue asbestos whose fiber may have been in the scrap and the mining company for whom Special Materials was the broker was not Johns-Manville's exclusive supplier of blue asbestos. (8 RT 2108:6-17; 9 RT 2445:22-28, 2455:7-15, 2456:1-11, 2457:7-25, 2585:21-2586:12, 2615:24-2616:10; 2640:2-24; 2641:24-2642:3.) The only product Johns-Manville purchased through Special Materials was ML-6 and MS-1 blue asbestos fiber. (9 RT 2642:27-2643:17.) All other non-crocidolite asbestos fibers, over 30 different types, were purchased through other brokers, or from other vendors and suppliers. (9 RT 2643:11-17: 9 RT 2639:8-2642:12, 2643:11-17; Exhibit 339.)¹

D. SPECIAL MATERIALS BROKERED ASBESTOS FIBER

Special Electric Company, incorporated in 1957, was in the electrical insulation business. (6 RT 1652:16-17; 1667:25-26.) It did not sell or broker the sale of the asbestos fiber allegedly at issue in this case. (6 RT 1667:27-1668:3; 10 RT 2723:26-2724-3.) It shared a common partial owner, Richard Wareham, with Special Materials-Wisconsin, the actual entity that brokered the sale of asbestos. ² (6 RT 1759:11-16.) The Johns-Manville employee that dealt directly with Special Materials described it as a "broker." (9 RT 2586:9-12, 2592:17-2593:2, 2595:2-14; 2638:19-2639:2.)

¹ Trial Exhibit 339 is referred to in the testimony as Exhibit 4, as that was the number used in the deposition being read. (9 RT 2613:15-23.)

² Special Materials was incorporated in 1969 under the name Special Asbestos, changing its name in 1976.

Special Materials never took possession of any asbestos. (6 RT 1658:5-9.) Rather, as a broker, it brought together buyers and sellers of asbestos. Johns-Manville would issue a purchase order, Special Materials would provide Johns-Manville with shipment information, and the mining company, Central Asbestos Company in South Africa, would pay Special Materials a commission. (6 RT 1663:3-12; 9 RT 2592:17-2593:2.) The Johns-Manville purchase orders required the asbestos be shipped in special polywoven bags with the OSHA warning printed on them. (6 RT 1162:2-21; 1665:14-1666:3; 1670:6-20.) The bags and the billing papers were shipped directly from Central Asbestos to Johns-Manville facilities, including Long Beach. (6 RT 1658:1-9.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. THERE SHOULD BE NO DUTY TO WARN A SOPHISTICATED MANUFACTURER OF DANGERS IT ALREADY KNOWS

Johns-Manville was one of the most knowledgeable companies in the world about asbestos. "From the 1920s to the 1970s, Manville was, by most accounts, the largest supplier of raw asbestos and manufacturer of asbestos-containing products in the United States." (*Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey* (2009) 557 U.S. 137, 129 S.Ct. 2195, 2198.) The Court of Appeal acknowledged: "No one in this appeal doubts that Johns-Manville was a sophisticated user of asbestos, who needed no warning about its dangers." (Op. at p. 17.)

Johns-Manville was fully aware of the hazards of asbestos, and there was nothing Special Materials could warn it about that Johns-Manville did not already know. Johns-Manville prescribed to Special Materials not only the special bags that the asbestos was to be shipped in – specially designed

to contain the fiber – but also the language of the warnings to be printed on each and every bag. (1 AA 208:21-23 and Exh. E thereto at 2 AA 284-285.)³ Johns-Manville was obviously aware of what the warnings should say.

A plaintiff bears the burden of proving that product warnings were required to come from the defendant, here Special Materials. (*Taylor v. Elliott Turbomachinery Co., Inc.* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 564, 576.) Warnings are not legally necessary and serve no purpose when the hazard is already known or is obvious. (*Id.* at 577; *Bojorquez v. House of Toys, Inc.* (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 930, 933 [dangers of slingshots so obvious warnings are unnecessary].) The "obvious danger" rule holds that "there is no need to warn of known risks under either a negligence or strict liability theory." (*Johnson v. American Standard, Inc.* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 56, 67; Comment k to Section 388 subdivision (b) of the Restatement (Second) Torts.)

The obvious danger rule has been extended in California to those users already sophisticated or knowledgeable about product hazards. "[S]ophisticated users need not be warned about dangers of which they are already aware." (*Johnson, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at 65.) The sophisticated user/obvious danger defense negates the causation element of a failure to warn theory. Pre-existing "knowledge of the dangers is the equivalent of prior notice" (*Id.* at 65), and failure to warn of a risk already known cannot be a legal or proximate cause of injury. (*Id.* at 67.)

For example, in *Fierro v. International Harvester, supra,* 127 Cal.App.3d 862, International Harvester sold a truck body to decedent's

³ In the post-trial arguments, Plaintiffs stated "we actually had evidence in this case where Johns-Manville contractually required a warning to be on a bag of asbestos." "Johns-Manville required that the South African mining concern put a particular warning on the bag of asbestos." (See 18 RT 6916:4-22.)

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