S209927 B233189

# SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 14 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

In The

Deputy

## SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CRC 8.25(b)

WILLIAM B. WEBB and JACQUELINE V. WEBB,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Respondents,

v.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Defendant, Respondent, and Petitioner.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, NO. B233189; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, HONORABLE JOHN SHEPARD WILEY, JUDGE, NO. BC436063

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### I.

## Review of the Opinion is not warranted.

Review of the Opinion below is not warranted because (1) the Petition fails to show any grounds for this Court's review, (2) the Opinion's reversal of the JNOV and reinstatement of the jury's underlying verdict rests independently on a general-negligence verdict as to which Special Electric has waived any challenge, and (3) the Petition rests on false narrative that is belied by the record and the Opinion, raising various other challenges that are inaccurate, unavailable, and unpersuasive.

### A. No Rule 8.500 grounds for review.

First and foremost, the Petition fails to raise any grounds for review under Rule 8.500.

Indeed, the Petition does not even invoke or reference those mandatory grounds until the "Conclusion," when Special Electric baldly asserts that the "issues" raised in the Petition "more than satisfy the requirements of Rule 8.500(b)(1)": "to secure uniformity of decision,' and 'to settle an important question of law." Petition at 29.

But aside from this claim, the Petition lacks any analysis or showing that either asserted ground for review exists. Indeed, the Petition does not remotely assert a lack of "uniformity of decision," *i.e.*, that the Opinion's resolution of some issue conflicts with a ruling from another appellate district. Instead, the only ground for review that is even remotely invoked in the Petition appears to be the "important question of law" ground. Although the Petition never states it expressly, it does open its discussion by asserting the existence of "major issues of compelling interest to litigants across California." Petition at 2.

Unfortunately, the balance of the Petition does nothing to support this claim. To the contrary, the Petition, in concert with the Opinion and the record, shows that the Opinion rests on specific circumstances that are unique to this case and thus unlikely to recur, let alone recur so frequently that they raise an "important question" for this Court to "settle."

Specifically, although Special Electric initially paints a laundry list of "Issues Presented" (Petition at 1), it limits its assertion of "compelling" issues to two:

- 1. <u>The procedural error</u>: "How and when a trial court may rule on timely submitted motions for nonsuit, directed verdict, and JNOV."
- 2. <u>The substantive error</u>: "Whether a broker to a sophisticated manufacturer is subject to a duty to warn that manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows." Petition at 2.

But neither of these issues raises an issue of statewide importance.

1. The procedural error: The trial court tried to rule on preverdict motions after the verdict—an error so rare that no other published decision addresses it.

The Opinion's first independent ground for reversing the trial court and reinstating the jury's verdict is that the order vacating the verdict was procedurally erroneous. Opinion at 11-15.

This holding arises from a fact pattern so unique that it has never before been addressed in a published decision—and will likely never recur:

- 1. Before the verdict, Special Electric timely moved for nonsuit and a directed verdict. Opinion at 3, 5. These motions raised entirely different grounds. The nonsuit motion challenged only "the failure to warn cause of action," asserting that (1) Special Electric had given warnings, and (2) Special Electric was "absolve[d]" of its "duty to warn" because Johns-Manville was a "sophisticated user." *Id.* at 3. The directed-verdict motion challenged only "strict liability," asserting that Special Electric was only a "broker" that was "outside the chain of distribution." *Id.* at 5.
- 2. The trial court did not rule immediately and allowed briefing. Opinion at 4, 5; 11 RT 3004:1-3. Webb filed his opposition to the February 2 nonsuit on February 9, over a week before the February 17 verdict. 1 AA 78-85, 143-150.

- 3. Special Electric failed to press for or obtain a ruling on its preverdict motions, allowing the jury to deliberate and return a verdict on February 17. Opinion at 4, 5; 1 AA 143-150.
- 4. After the verdict, the trial court announced its intention to deny the pre-verdict motions and suggested that Special Electric bring a proper, post-verdict JNOV motion. Opinion at 6.
- 5. Special Electric declined to file a JNOV (or other post-verdict) motion and insisted that the court rule instead on its <u>pre</u>-verdict motions. *Id*.
- 6. The trial court acquiesced, allowing subsequent briefing and scheduling a hearing on the <u>pre</u>-verdict motions. *Id*.
- 7. In post-verdict briefing, Special Electric repeatedly shifted and changed its asserted grounds and supporting arguments. Opinion at 6-7. Special Electric pressed only the "failure to warn" based grounds from its nonsuit, abandoning its "only a broker" argument that had been the sole ground for a directed verdict. *Id.* Special Electric now argued that both nonsuit and directed verdict involved the challenge to "failure to warn" liability. *Id.* Moreover this failure-to-warn challenge evolved—Special Electric no longer asserted "sophisticated user," now arguing for the first time that Johns-Manville was a "sophisticated intermediary," that Special Electric reasonably "relied" on Johns-Manville to warn the users, and that the warnings that Special Electric supposedly gave were "adequate as a matter of law." Opinion at 7.
- 8. The trial court granted Special Electric's motion, via either of two alternative procedures: (1) the court granted the pre-verdict nonsuit and directed-verdict motions; or (2) the court treated the pre-verdict motions as a JNOV motion and granted that. Opinion at 8-9. As a predicate to this

ruling, the court "entered" judgment "as to the jury verdict," then vacated that judgment by its post-verdict order. Opinion at 9.

9. Because the trial court had entered judgment on the verdict, negating the pre-verdict motions and leaving JNOV as the only available challenge, the appellate court considered the propriety of granting JNOV and ruled it procedurally improper. Opinion at 12-15. The JNOV could not be granted because it violated numerous statutory mandates: no JNOV motion was ever brought, no statutory notice was given, and the JNOV was granted at an improper time. *Id*.

It is upon this elaborate fact pattern that the Opinion's procedural ruling rests. Needless to say, the chances of this recurring are slim and none.

Nevertheless, Special Electric asserts the following issue as (supposedly) affecting other California litigants: "may a trial court rule after a verdict upon otherwise valid pre-verdict motions for nonsuit and directed verdict?" Petition at 1.

But this general framing of the issue makes its recurrence no more likely. Indeed, through numerous rounds of briefing, neither the courts nor either party have identified even <u>one</u> case where a court attempted to rule on pre-verdict motions for nonsuit and a directed verdict after the verdict. And the reason for this is simple: it never happens. Instead, the correct (and common) procedure is that, if the trial court is unable to rule on the pre-verdict motions (*e.g.*, due to time constraints), the proper procedure is to "deny the motion[s] in favor of" and in "reliance upon" the "power to grant [JNOV] after the jury's deliberations." *Beavers v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 310, 328. This procedure allows the "court to delay, in effect, ruling upon" the pre-verdict motion in favor of a later JNOV. *Id.* at 328 n.6.

That is the normal course—if the party cannot get its pre-verdict motion(s) ruled on, it brings a post-verdict JNOV. And that is what Special Electric should have done here and indeed was encouraged to do by the trial court, but refused. Opinion at 6.

The Opinion below does nothing more than identify Special Electric's mistake and tell litigants to follow the proper procedure that everyone but Special Electric already follows: challenge a verdict by moving for JNOV, new trial, or any other statutorily authorized post-verdict motion.

The Opinion's procedural holding is limited to this case and thus does not raise a statewide question of law for this Court to settle.

2. The substantive error: The trial court does nothing novel, upholding a jury's verdict under governing law based on substantial evidence that Special Electric failed to warn users of its dangerous product.

Like the procedural holding, the trial court's substantive holding does not raise any issue of statewide importance for this Court to settle.

Special Electric, trying to concoct such an important question, posits the following issue:

Whether a broker to a sophisticated manufacturer [Johns-Manville] is subject to a duty to warn that manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows.

Petition at 2; *accord id.* at 1 ("Is it a tort not to warn a manufacturer of hazards the manufacturer already knows?").

But this supposed "issue" is <u>not</u> presented by the Opinion or this case. Webb did not assert, the jury did not find, and the Opinion does not hold, that Special Electric owed a duty to warn <u>Johns-Manville</u>. Instead, the Opinion upholds Special Electric's well-established duty to warn <u>users</u> of its

asbestos of that product's dangers, a duty that the jury properly found was not fulfilled. Opinion at 15-16; see 1 AA 121 (instructions), 146 (verdict).

The issue of Johns-Manville's knowledge arose only when Special Electric asserted that its duty to warn users like Webb was "discharged" because Johns-Manville was a sophisticated "intermediary" who did not need to be "warned." Opinion at 7.

The Opinion properly rejects this argument, based on settled law and the evidence and instructions in this case. Opinion at 16-29. The Opinion rests on and follows this Court's decision in *Johnson v. American Standard* (2008) 43 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 56, the appellate court in *Stewart v. Union Carbide Corp.* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 23, and section 402A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. *E.g.*, Opinion at 20.

The Opinion raises no new interpretation of the law. Any factual difference in this case from *Johnson* or *Stewart* arises (again) from this case's unique factual circumstances. As the Opinion finds, substantial evidence establishes that: (1) Special Electric knew that its product was hazardous and would give rise to liability but intentionally marketed its product as safer than other asbestos; (2) Special Electric sold most of its product to Johns-Manville, without warnings; (3) Johns-Manville put the asbestos into products and sold it to downstream consumers, without warnings; and (4) "Special Electric and Johns-Manville together engaged in efforts to prevent asbestos users from becoming informed of its dangers." Opinion at 25-26. In light of these unique facts, the jury, applying the well-settled law (under the instructions), reasonably rejected Special Electric's argument that its duty to warn should be discharged.

As with the procedural issues, these unique circumstances are simply not likely to recur—thus raising no ground for this Court's review.

# B. The Opinion rests on independent grounds not challenged by the Petition.

Review is not warranted also because the Opinion's reversal rests on an independent holding that the Petition fails to challenge: even a proper JNOV of Webb's "failure to warn" claim would not have properly upset the judgment on the jury's verdict because that verdict rested independently on Webb's general-negligence claim. Opinion at 29-32.

As the Opinion shows, the jury was asked to make findings on several discrete claims, including strict liability, failure to warn, and general negligence. Opinion at 6, 30. The jury was instructed that these were discrete claims with different elements—in particular, the negligence claim rested not on any failure to warn but on negligence in the "design, manufacture, or supply of asbestos." *Id.* at 30-31. Consistent with these instructions, the verdict elicited separate findings on these discrete claims. *Id.* at 30, 31.

Under these instructions, the jury found for Webb on both claims, including on general negligence that Special Electric was "negligent in the supply of its asbestos." Opinion at 30.

On appeal, Webb showed that the JNOV, even if somehow proper, could not have affected the general-negligence claim. The nonsuit motion—the only motion ever brought to challenge the negligence-based claims—expressly "targeted only 'the failure to warn cause of action." Opinion at 3. Accordingly, it did not "purport to challenge or address the general negligence verdict." *Id.* at 31. Because that verdict stood unaffected by the trial court's post-verdict ruling on failure-to-warn, a JNOV vacating the entire verdict was improper. Judgment for Webb rested on the unaffected general-negligence verdict.

The Opinion finds substantial evidence to support a verdict for general negligence in the "supply of asbestos" unrelated to failure to warn. Opinion at 31. Specifically, the jury could have reasonably found that "Special Electric had marketed its asbestos with unreasonable disregard for its dangers" based on evidence that Special Electric (1) sold an asbestos type (crocidolite) that was "particularly dangerous," (2) marketed its more dangerous asbestos as "much safer" than other asbestos types, and (3) sought to "distance itself" from its "dangerous product" by selling it through the entity "Special Electric" (instead of "Special Asbestos"). Opinion at 31 (as modified). In sum, this evidence supported a finding that Special Electric not only "failed to warn foreseeable users that its asbestos is dangerous" but also "attempted to affirmatively enhance its marketing of particularly dangerous asbestos by concealing the added danger and by marketing it as having lesser danger than other asbestos." Opinion at 31.

In response to Webb's showing below that this evidence supported a finding of negligent asbestos supply, unrelated to failure to warn, Special Electric offered no "cogent" argument. Opinion at 31-32. As the Opinion holds, "Special Electric does not explain why the cited evidence could not support the jury's findings that Special Electric acted negligently" in "marketing and supplying" its product. *Id.* at 31.

Accordingly, the Opinion holds that Special Electric <u>waived</u> its challenge to the general-negligence verdict:

Special Electric offers neither case law nor any other authority on the subject to support its contrary contention that this evidence shows only a failure to warn. For that reason, it is <u>insufficient to support that conclusion</u>. (Cahill v. San Diego Gas & Elec. Co. (2011) 194 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 939, 956 [Absence of cogent legal argument or citation to authority allows court to treat contention raised on appeal as <u>waived</u>"].)

Opinion at 32 (emphasis added).

Here, although Special Electric purports to challenge the general-negligence verdict, it fails to address its waiver below. Petition at 22-23. Instead, Special Electric pretends that the appellate court rested its holding about the general-negligence verdict not on "evidence" but on mere "allegations in the complaint, arguments to the jury, and jury instructions." Petition at 22. But Special Electric then attacks the quality of the evidence of negligent marketing set forth in the Opinion (*id.* at 22-23)—ignoring the standard of review requiring all evidence to be construed "in the light most favorable" to the verdict. Opinion at 11.

Like in the court below, Special Electric again fails to present any cogent legal argument, nor any law or other authority, as to why the evidence is not substantial in support of the general-neglience verdict. Nor does Special Electric challenge the holding of its waiver below.

Accordingly, the sufficiency of the general-negligence verdict to support the underlying judgment, and thus to foreclose JNOV, is not properly presented by the Petition.

Thus, review cannot result in a reversal and should be denied.

# C. The Petition rests on numerous misstatements and asserted issues that cannot be raised here.

Finally, the Petition should be denied because it rests on a host of misstatements and inaccuracies, including the assertion of issues that are not properly presented here because they were not preserved below.

Because these instances are scattered throughout the Petition and touch on numerous asserted issues, we list them here in no particular order, to inform this Court's consideration of the propriety of granting review.

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